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          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Good morning. It

          3  is a good morning for me, especially because my

          4  mornings always end up better on Monday when my

          5  sports team have a good weekend and New York had a

          6  good weekend across the board. My name is Erik

          7  Martin Dilan and I am the Chair of the Housing and

          8  Buildings Committee.

          9                 Today, the Committee will have an

         10  initial hearing on two bills. There will be no vote

         11  today, just an initial hearing. Intro 525 in

         12  relation to tax exemption and abatements for certain

         13  rehabilitated buildings authorized by Section 488-A

         14  of the Real Property Tax Law, and Intro 526 in

         15  relation to exemption from taxation of alterations

         16  and improvements to multiple dwellings.

         17                 Intro 525 would extend the

         18  eligibility requirements for the program commonly

         19  known as J-51 for SROs until December 31, 2011.

         20  Currently a tax exemption for up to 32 years can be

         21  obtained on any increase in assessed evaluation due

         22  to eligible improvements to SROs provided that the

         23  improvements are completed within 36 months of

         24  commencement. This tax benefit program was designed

         25  to encourage the preservation of the City's
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          2  diminishing SRO housing stock and is viewed by many

          3  housing and homeless prevention advocates as a

          4  necessary measure to deter homelessness. Eligible

          5  improvements include the upgrading or replacement of

          6  heating systems, electrical systems, elevators,

          7  sprinkler systems, fire escapes and roofing.

          8                 Intro 526 would extend the

          9  eligibility requirements for the J-51 program until

         10  December 31, 2011. The program has been one of the

         11  most significant mechanisms to encourage the

         12  rehabilitation and upgrading of the existing housing

         13  stock in the City. J-51 benefits can result in tax

         14  exemptions and abatements or both. The tax exemption

         15  benefit temporarily exempts the property from an

         16  increase in assess value that would otherwise occur

         17  as a result of the rehabilitation work.

         18                 Examples of improvements to multiple

         19  dwellings that are eligible for J-51 benefits

         20  include the installation and/or replacement of

         21  heating systems, plumbing systems, roofing systems,

         22  wiring, windows, elevators and other renovations

         23  that qualify as major capital improvements. Under

         24  the J-51 program, rental units are subject to rent

         25  regulation during the benefit period.
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          2                 Today, the Committee expects to hear

          3  and receive testimony regarding these two pieces of

          4  legislation from HPD as well as tenants and housing

          5  advocates and the real estate industry,

          6  respectively. I want to remind everybody, but I

          7  believe that most people that do want to testify

          8  have already signed an appearance card; but if you

          9  haven't done so and wish to testify, please see the

         10  Sergeant- at- Arms in the back. I'd also like to

         11  remind everyone to silence their cell phones for the

         12  duration of the hearing and if they feel the need

         13  for private conversations, to please have those

         14  conversations outside of the Committee room.

         15                 Before I call up witnesses from HPD,

         16  I would like acknowledge my colleagues on the

         17  Committee who are here. Council Member Lou Fidler to

         18  my left from Brooklyn, to my right, sorry, Council

         19  Member Tony Avella from Queens and Council Member

         20  Maria Baez from the Bronx. Without further a due, I

         21  would like to call up Barbara Flynn from HPD as well

         22  as Miriam Colon from HPD to provide testimony on

         23  this item.

         24                 Before they begin, I'd like to just

         25  publicly announce here, it has been announced within
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          2  the Council that the Counsel to this Committee,

          3  Terzah Nasser, has been promoted and has become a

          4  Director here at the City Council and she will be

          5  sorely missed by me and I'm sure the Members of the

          6  Committee as well. Thank God, she is still at the

          7  Counsel so that we can still use her expertise. But

          8  I would like to say congratulations to Terzah here

          9  publicly. Without further a due, Barbara, good

         10  morning.

         11                 MS. FLYNN: Good morning, Chairman

         12  Dilan and members of the Housing and Buildings

         13  Committee. I am Barbara Flynn, Chief of Staff of

         14  Intergovernmental Affairs at the Department of

         15  Housing Preservation and Development. Sitting next

         16  to me is Miriam Colon, Assistant Commissioner of

         17  Housing Incentives. We are pleased to be here today

         18  to talk about extending HPD's 488-A and J-51

         19  Programs for an additional four years and to answer

         20  your questions.

         21                 The two bills that are before us

         22  today, Intro 525 and 526, both extend tax benefit

         23  programs for building renovations from December 31,

         24  2007 to December 31, 2011. Intro 525 allows owners

         25  of Class B or single room occupancy dwellings to
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          2  receive a tax exemption and abatement for

          3  improvements made to their buildings. This bill

          4  amends Section 488-A of the State's Real Property

          5  Tax Law and Section 11-244 of the Administrative

          6  Code and ensures that low-income housing is treated

          7  similarly to class A multiple dwellings. Intro 526

          8  extends for four years, the J-51 program for Class A

          9  multiple dwellings and for buildings that convert

         10  from non- residential to residential use. Both bills

         11  continue to encourage owners to renovate and upgrade

         12  their properties in exchange for a tax benefit.

         13                 While the City expands its housing

         14  stock to accommodate our growing population, we must

         15  also ensure that our housing stock is maintained and

         16  preserved. As many of you know, the Mayor's new

         17  housing marketplace plan will create and preserve

         18  165,000 units or enough affordable housing for

         19  500,000 New Yorkers by 2013. Preserving affordable

         20  housing and creating incentives to ensure that the

         21  housing we create remains protected for years to

         22  come is a critical element of the Mayor's housing

         23  plan. Because of HPD's tax benefit programs,

         24  thousands of properties have been created,

         25  rehabilitated and the neighborhoods where they are
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          2  located have been revitalized.

          3                 The J-51 program has been in

          4  existence since 1955 and was initially enacted to

          5  encourage the landlords to upgrade their cold water

          6  flats by installing heat and hot water systems. It

          7  has evolved into a modernization tool for

          8  residential renovations and now the conversion of

          9  commercial buildings into residential units. HPD

         10  issued approximately 4,100 J-51 certificates between

         11  January 2004 and August 2007, covering over 296,000

         12  units. That number includes six certificates for 51

         13  SRO units.

         14                 In order for an owner to be eligible

         15  to receive J-51 benefits, they must show that their

         16  property is free of serious housing maintenance code

         17  violations and their property taxes and water and

         18  sewer charges have been paid or are subject to a

         19  Department of Finance payment plan. J-51 benefits

         20  apply to a variety of improvements such as the

         21  installation or replacement of heating systems,

         22  plumbing, wiring, elevators, windows and a range of

         23  other major capital improvements. The program also

         24  grants tax benefits to owners of non- residential

         25  buildings who convert their buildings to residential
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          2  use.

          3                 Currently, the property must be

          4  completed prior to December 31, 2007 in order to be

          5  eligible to receive J-51 benefits. Intro 526 extends

          6  the completion date for J-51 to December 31, 2011.

          7  The J-51 program provides for either a 14 or 34 year

          8  tax exemption on the increased valuation resulting

          9  from the alterations which must be certified by HPD

         10  and an abatement of property taxes on construction

         11  costs as also certified by HPD.

         12                 Under the Section 488-A program or

         13  Intro 525, SRO owners receive tax abatement and

         14  exemptions for improving and rehabilitating their

         15  properties. Recognizing that these buildings are

         16  occupied by low- income people, the program

         17  prohibits rent increases based on the cost of

         18  improvements, unless the improvements are funded by

         19  governmental loan; in which case, rents are

         20  regulated by HPD and rental assistance is provided

         21  as available. This program enables owners to upgrade

         22  SRO housing without displacing their low- income

         23  tenants. Intro 525 requires that owners commence

         24  work before December 31, 2011.

         25                 Governor Pataki signed Chapters 244
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          2  and 609 of the laws of 2006 which extended the

          3  program for both Class A multiple dwellings and

          4  Class B or SRO units for four years and which also

          5  authorized the local legislative body to extend the

          6  deadline to December 31, 2011. The Administration

          7  urges you to pass these two very important

          8  preservation measures sponsored by Chairman Dilan.

          9  Thank you. And we are ready to answer your

         10  questions.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Okay. Thank you. I

         12  will begin just that you provided some of the

         13  background, so that relieves some of my initial

         14  questions in terms of how many units across the City

         15  receives the benefits. Thanks for having that in

         16  your testimony. Then I will move to affordability

         17  requirements. Please explain what they are in terms

         18  of what affordability requirements come with the

         19  J-51 program.

         20                 MS. FLYNN: If the building, the

         21  building has to be rent regulated to rent stabilized

         22  once they are in the J-51 program.

         23                 MS. COLON: Generally, if --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: If you could bring

         25  the mic closer and make sure the light is off.
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          2                 MS. COLON: This is my first time.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: That's fine. And

          4  also identify yourself, before you speak.

          5                 MS. COLON: Miriam Colon, Assistant

          6  Commissioner for Housing Incentives at HPD. Aside

          7  from rent regulations, these units are rent

          8  regulated, most of our properties receive

          9  substantial governmental assistance and then the

         10  rents are regulated by that. But this is not an

         11  affordable housing program. It is a preservation

         12  program. To the extent that they receive other

         13  governmental assistance, the rents are affordability

         14  criteria for those.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: The main benefit

         16  is that they are regulated. Are the projects

         17  regulated for the length of the benefit program?

         18                 MS. COLON: Correct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: They are?

         20                 MS. COLON: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: After the benefit

         22  has ended, what happens to the regulation status

         23  after the benefit has ended?

         24                 MS. FLYNN: If the building is

         25  previously in rent stabilization, if it was occupied
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          2  before 1974, the rent stabilization continues. If

          3  the building was only rent stabilized due to the

          4  J-51 program, after the J-51 expires, so does the

          5  rent regulation.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: If an owner of a

          7  small building with five units or less requested the

          8  J-51 benefits, do those units become stabilized as

          9  well?

         10                 MS. FLYNN: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: They do. Okay.

         12  That's great. I want to move over to some program

         13  requirements. How often can an owner request the

         14  J-51 tax benefit? I can guess is there a limitation

         15  to the number of requests or the span of time

         16  between requests?

         17                 MS. COLON: No, there is no

         18  limitation. As long as it is a new improvement, it

         19  would be covered by a new J- 51.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Okay. So they just

         21  can't come back for the same thing.

         22                 MS. COLON: For the same, correct.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Got it. I just

         24  want to look at some maybe unique circumstances.

         25  Owners that utilize J-51 for lead abatement work,
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          2  how successful has that been and is there any data

          3  and have there been any complaints regarding this

          4  aspect of the program? Or is it even used?

          5                 MS. FLYNN: I was going to say, I

          6  don't know, I don't think we have broken out

          7  separately the lead abatement from the rest of the

          8  J- 51.

          9                 MS. COLON: My understanding is that

         10  we have not received any specific applications for

         11  under the lead.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Is it is eligible?

         13  They are eligible --

         14                 MS. FLYNN: Yes.

         15                 MS. COLON: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: -- But people

         17  aren't using J-51 to abate lead?

         18                 MS. COLON: I honestly cannot say. We

         19  can definitely find out.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: We would certainly

         21  like to know.

         22                 MS. COLON: But we have not received

         23  any applications specific for that.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: We certainly like

         25  to know. Is HPD seeing an increase in the number of
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          2  buildings with commercial store fronts using the

          3  J-51 program?

          4                 MS. FLYNN: There has been

          5  historically between 88 and 90,000 units per year

          6  that have come under it. I know that the program

          7  changed four years ago. But the overall number of

          8  units has not gone up.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: These could be

         10  used for conversions of say, old manufacturing

         11  buildings into residential.

         12                 MS. FLYNN: Correct. To residential

         13  use.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: What other types

         15  of buildings are eligible?

         16                 MS. FLYNN: It is just about anything.

         17  You can do a regular rental building, co- ops are

         18  eligible for J-51, smaller buildings. You can have a

         19  commercial with two or three units above; the

         20  conversion of industrial manufacturing to

         21  residential. It is the range of units.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: It is just any

         23  building that I guess is legally converted obviously

         24   --

         25                 MS. FLYNN: Correct.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: -- Is eligible.

          3                 MS. FLYNN: Correct. Any residential

          4  unit is eligible.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: I just want to

          6  focus now on the geographic exclusionaries. I know

          7  there is some --

          8                 MS. FLYNN: Manhattan.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: -- In 421- A. But

         10  how is the exclusion area applied to J-51 and

         11  explain the difference on how the program works

         12  within the exclusion zone as opposed to outside of

         13  the exclusion zone.

         14                 MS. FLYNN: The exclusion zone, it is

         15  just in Manhattan. There is a Manhattan tax

         16  abatement zone which is approximately from about

         17  96th Street to 34th Street, the sort of the Mid-

         18  town area. I think it stops about 8th Avenue on the

         19  West Side. In that area, you can receive an

         20  exemption, but the owner cannot receive an abatement

         21  on their property.

         22                 The minimum tax zone is from 86th

         23  Street to Holstein Street and there you have to pay

         24  a minimum tax. The reason that this was initially

         25  created, it was probably in the 70's or early 80's,
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          2  and it was City- wide at the time, it was to

          3  discourage gut renovations in the displacement of

          4  people. In about the mid- or late- 1980's, they

          5  moved it back to just Manhattan.

          6                 MS. COLON: I would just like to add

          7  that there are number of different limitations on

          8  abatement and exemptions in Manhattan. Generally,

          9  what it does also, it caps. It is sort of similar

         10  with 421- A in that there is a cap. But it is a cut

         11  off. It is a cliff. I don't know if you remember the

         12  discussion of 421- A, there was the cliff. So in

         13  J-51, it is a cliff.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: I'm surprised at

         15  how much of this stuff sticks, but it does. I guess

         16  that leads to my next question, the AV cap, was

         17  about $40,000? That leads to if I remember the math

         18  about $400,000 in value.

         19                 MS. FLYNN: Right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: But the average

         21  condo price in Manhattan is about -- how many

         22  buildings in Manhattan say are affected or how many

         23  buildings or condos and co- ops apply for the

         24  program?

         25                 MS. COLON: We'll have to get back to
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          2  you on that.

          3                 MS. FLYNN: We'll have to get back.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: I'd like to see

          5  the condo numbers. I'll leave my questioning there.

          6  We've also been joined by Council Member Rosie

          7  Mendez who is the Chair of the Subcommittee on

          8  Public Housing and I believe Council Member Lou

          9  Fidler has a question.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I'm a little

         11  slow on the uptake on this. Can you just explain to

         12  me the difference between the exemption and the

         13  abatement portion?

         14                 MS. FLYNN: Sure. The exemption is

         15  before it is renovated, before the building is

         16  renovated. And then difference after it is renovated

         17  and how the building has increased in value, that

         18  increase is exempted.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: From?

         20                 MS. FLYNN: From taxes. You wouldn't

         21  pay -- you would still be paying the lower tax.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Okay.

         23                 MS. FLYNN: Normally if you were to

         24  renovate your building --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: There is an
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          2  increase in the value.

          3                 MS. FLYNN: Right, the value. Right.

          4  So you don't pay that exemption.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And that

          6  results in an abatement of your taxes?

          7                 MS. FLYNN: That's the exemption. The

          8  abatement, you don't pay --

          9                 MS. COLON: The abatement is a

         10  reduction in your taxes based on the certified

         11  reasonable costs and it ranges between 90 and 150

         12  percent depending on the location, where it has

         13  substantial governmental assistance.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Now, I least

         15  have a passing on the standing of the difference.

         16  I'm kind of curious about the exclusionary zone

         17  issue because you said that it was created and

         18  revised in the late 1980's to essentially the

         19  central business district of Manhattan. The first

         20  question I have for you, does the rationale for its

         21  existence continue? That's a long time since the

         22  late 80's. Lots of things have changed in the City.

         23                 MS. FLYNN: I think we would be

         24  willing to look at it. I don't think it is something

         25  that we have thought about, but we can look at it
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          2  and bring it back.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: At a time when

          4  we are being asked to renew this for four years, I

          5  think it is certainly an appropriate time to look at

          6  anything that is costing or affecting tax revenues

          7  in the City. The corollary of that question would be

          8  if the rationale continues or does exist for that

          9  exclusionary zone, are the boundaries of the zone

         10  justified or is the rationale that applies to

         11  continue the exclusionary zone suggest that other

         12  areas be included. If your answer is the same that

         13  you will look at it, if you would be willing to look

         14  at it, I for one would be reluctant to move on this

         15  bill in any way until I add a real full answer to

         16  those two questions.

         17                 MS. FLYNN: One of the things that we

         18  like to remind everybody is that this is a

         19  preservation program that most of the buildings, 60

         20  percent of the units were built before World War II.

         21  It is not something we like to eliminate. We would

         22  like owners to be able to take the option, if it is

         23  there, it is one of the options. I will bring it

         24  back and I will look further.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I understand
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          2  that. I'm not quibbling with value of J-51 in any

          3  shape, way, manner or form. What I'm suggesting is

          4  that if there is an area of the City that is being

          5  treated differently that there be a good reason for

          6  it. If the good reason applies beyond the area that

          7  is being treated, that we look at whether or not

          8  those boundaries should be changed either by

          9  reducing them or expanding them. The time to do it

         10  is when you are reassessing the program. Don't you

         11  think?

         12                 MS. FLYNN: Yes, yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Okay. Thank

         14  you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you, Council

         16  Member Fidler. Are there any questions from my

         17  colleagues? Council Member Mendez.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: My apologies

         19  and this may have been answered, but I came in late.

         20  I'm familiar with J-51. This would just extend for

         21  people or individuals who are currently receiving it

         22  or these are individuals who would apply now, make

         23  the renovations, and then receive it?

         24                 MS. FLYNN: This bill extends the

         25  whole program for another four years. It would allow
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          2  additional owners to come in to renovate their

          3  properties and come in over the next four years and

          4  apply for J- 51.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Okay. Then my

          6  question --

          7                 MS. FLYNN: It doesn't do anything for

          8  the people that currently have J-51. It doesn't

          9  extend their benefits.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: At all. So

         11  these are just to allow new owners to come into the

         12  program and to incentivize them to make repairs.

         13                 MS. FLYNN: Right.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: My question is

         15  why only four years?

         16                 MS. FLYNN: This has been done for a

         17  number of years and four year extensions. I'm not

         18  sure why just four years.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Okay. Thank

         20  you very much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: I think it is also

         22  by State legislation, the State only allows us to

         23  extend and renew for four years.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: State

         25  legislation. Okay. Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Any other

          3  questions from my colleagues? Now I just have one

          4  last one. There has been a great number of gut

          5  rehabs and renovations in my district, the areas of

          6  Bushwick and Cypress Hills and Ocean Hill

          7  Brownsville. For the most part, do you think this

          8  J-51 program is largely responsible for those gut

          9  rehabs and our owners using it not only in my

         10  district, but in areas like mine?

         11                 MS. FLYNN: Well, I would hope that

         12  the owners are using it to upgrade their facilities.

         13  Whether it is new windows or plumbing, heating

         14  systems, I'm not quite sure. I'm sure that they are

         15  using it to preserve and upgrade their properties.

         16  Are they only upgrading it because of the benefit?

         17  That I don't know.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: I would guess the

         19  incentive program is pretty much out there for

         20  people who own these buildings and they know they

         21  can access it. I would think that it is to their

         22  advantage to use it to do major gut rehab. Is that

         23  correct?

         24                 MS. FLYNN: That's correct. I think we

         25  encourage people to do that whether it is our owners
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          2  night that we go out every month to the different

          3  Council Members district or our division of

          4  neighborhood preservation who works with owners to

          5  encourage them to maintain and upgrade their

          6  properties.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: I'd like to thank

          8  you, Ms. Flynn and Ms. Colon. If there are no other

          9  questions from my colleagues, you are free to enjoy

         10  the rest of your morning.

         11                 MS. FLYNN: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you. Next

         13  up, I will call up Mr. Harold Schultz from Citizens

         14  Housing and Planning Council; Mr. Curt Tucker from

         15  NYSAFAH. Gentlemen, I guess you can begin in the

         16  order that you were called up. Please state your

         17  name for the record before beginning your testimony.

         18  Before you do, we have also been joined by Council

         19  Member James Oddo who is the Minority Leader of the

         20  City Council.

         21                 MR. SHULTZ: My name is Harold Shultz,

         22  Senior Fellow with Citizens Housing and Planning

         23  Council.

         24                 MR. TUCKER: My name is Curt Tucker

         25  and I am the Senior Legislative Analyst for the New
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          2  York State Association for Affordable Housing.

          3                 MR. SHULTZ: I guess I will go first.

          4  Good morning. I would like to thank Chairman Dilan

          5  and the members of the Committee for this

          6  opportunity to testify on behalf of extending the

          7  J-51 tax abatement program in New York City. As we

          8  all know, J-51 has been critical to the

          9  revitalization of affordable housing in New York

         10  City for decades. It is vitally important that it be

         11  continued as Intros 525 and 526 propose to do.

         12                 J-51 began as a way of encouraging

         13  the upgrading of old law cold water flats to

         14  buildings with central heating and running hot

         15  water. Over the years, it has retained its function

         16  as a program that improves buildings while

         17  protecting tenants. J-51 does this in two ways.

         18  First, it insulates owners from real estate tax

         19  increases based on improvements to property that

         20  are, for the most part, basic upgrades to improve

         21  living standards.

         22                 Second, it protects the tenants who

         23  live in the properties by requiring participation in

         24  rent stabilization. Thus, J-51 encourages owners to

         25  make basic improvements in residential real estate

                                                            25

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  and helps moderate the rent increases that might

          3  otherwise be imposed. Given the current struggle to

          4  preserve affordable housing, this type of moderate

          5  rehab, which upgrades living standards but does not

          6  displace tenants, is a vitally important tool in New

          7  York City.

          8                 Currently about 13,961 properties are

          9  receiving J-51 tax abatements. J-51 should continue

         10  to be available to keep housing affordable in the

         11  future. To the extent that modifications of J-51 are

         12  proposed, I would urge the Council to consider that

         13  changes that would reduce participation in J-51 are

         14  not beneficial to the goal of preserving affordable

         15  housing. Therefore, I urge the Council to approve

         16  Intros 525 and 526 and to continue the J-51 tax

         17  abatement program. Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you. I know

         19  you identified yourself already, but you need to do

         20  again before you proceed.

         21                 MR. TUCKER: Thank you, Mr. Chairman,

         22  members of the Committee. My name is Curt Tucker and

         23  I am the Senior Legislative Analyst for the New York

         24  State Association for Affordable Housing. Since

         25  1998, NYSAFAH has represented the interests of the
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          2  private sector in affordable housing and worked with

          3  government, non- profits and for- profit

          4  organizations throughout the affordable housing

          5  community. Our nearly 300 members are responsible

          6  for most of the affordable housing built with

          7  government subsidies in the City and State in recent

          8  years.

          9                 NYSAFAH strongly supports the

         10  proposed legislation extending the J-51 program for

         11  an additional four years. For over 50 years, the

         12  program has been an important tool for developers

         13  undertaking major renovations of existing apartment

         14  buildings, as well as for landlords large and small

         15  who need to perform major capital improvements to

         16  keep their buildings operating safely and

         17  efficiently.

         18                 Over the years, the program has been

         19  expanded to address problems like lead paint

         20  abatement and energy conservation. It also serves as

         21  an incentive for owners to address other building

         22  problems, since to receive benefits they must abate

         23  violations and pay off outstanding charges with the

         24  Department of Finance. Further, and most critically

         25  for our members, it provides extra benefits for

                                                            27

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  renovations that are undertaken as part of

          3  governmental assisted projects; making it a critical

          4  component in our efforts to provide and preserve

          5  affordable housing.

          6                 NYSAFAH also supports the proposed

          7  legislation extending for four years, the tax

          8  exemption and abatement benefits provided by Section

          9  488-A of the Real Property Tax Law. This program,

         10  which is modeled after the J-51 program, encourages

         11  owners of SROs to replace heating, wiring, and

         12  plumbing systems that may be old, fault, or

         13  inefficient, and to make more comprehensive

         14  rehabilitations as warranted. Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you,

         16  gentlemen. Are there any questions from my

         17  colleagues? If not, I would like to thank you both.

         18  The next person to testify will be Brad Lander of

         19  The Pratt Center. Good morning.

         20                 MR. LANDER: Chairman Dilan, members

         21  of the Committee, thank you so much for this

         22  opportunity to testify. I'm Brad Lander from The

         23  Pratt Center for Community Development. I'm also

         24  representing the Urban Justice Center's Community

         25  Development Program this morning. We are grateful
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          2  for the opportunity to provide joint testimony today

          3  on the renewal of the J-51 program.

          4                 In general, we support the extension

          5  of the program, which encourages as you have heard,

          6  investment in the preservation of multi- family

          7  housing in New York City and although more recent

          8  data is not available, we are encouraged by the

          9  findings of the IBO in 2003 that the majority of

         10  units receiving benefits did have relatively low

         11  assessed values. We are not looking at a program

         12  that is anything like the 421- A pre- reformed

         13  program which was mostly a subsidy for luxury

         14  buildings. We, therefore, support its renewal.

         15                 At the same time, we think there are

         16  three discrete changes that would go a long way to

         17  making J-51 a better, fairer and more efficient

         18  program. First, the City should clarify the

         19  requirements that units receiving J-51 benefits are

         20  under rent stabilization and require not only that

         21  they enter there or that they are already there, but

         22  they remain there, preferably even after the

         23  benefits expire as we do on other affordable housing

         24  or housing subsidy programs. If you really want to

         25  blaze new ground without an option to leave the
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          2  system through vacancy destabilization which is

          3  undermining our system of affordable and rental

          4  housing at this time.

          5                 If units are removed from rent

          6  stabilization at any point, for any reason, J-51

          7  benefits should be discontinued. It is the City's

          8  policy now that units should remain under

          9  stabilization. But as we know, DHCR has explored

         10  fuzzy administration of this option, especially

         11  under the Pataki Administration, and there is some

         12  lack of clarity in the law. To begin with, the City

         13  should clarify that it will, if units do leave

         14  stabilization for any reason, cease J-51 benefits

         15  immediately, although work with the State to make

         16  sure the State does not allow that to happen. And

         17  clarify in the up front contracting for folks who

         18  are taking benefits that they will put their units

         19  under stabilization, that they will stay there even

         20  after the expiration of benefits.

         21                 This is exactly what happens on other

         22  HPD programs. You get a benefit and even at the end

         23  of it, your units go into stabilization if you take

         24  that benefit and that should happen here just as

         25  well. There is no point in us giving subsidies for
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          2  units that are going to go market at the expense of

          3  tenants immediately at the end of the subsidy

          4  program. This is exactly what we are trying to fix

          5  around Mitchell- Lama and we should fix it right now

          6  around J- 51.

          7                 If you really want to take a further

          8  step, you could since it is a contract folks are

          9  entering into with the City of New York, require

         10  that landlords not only commit to stay in

         11  stabilization after the end of the benefit period,

         12  but that they forego their option to move the units

         13  out of the system even afterwards under vacancy

         14  destabilization. Our sense is that most of you agree

         15  that vacancy destabilization should be done away.

         16  While we don't have the power to make that a reality

         17  since it is an Albany choice, the City absolutely

         18  does have the power to make it a reality here. This

         19  is contracting with owners and you could do it here.

         20                 At a bare minimum, you should remove

         21  the sort of magic words provision that currently

         22  exist that tenants-in-occupancy at the end of

         23  benefits are not protected by rent stabilization

         24  after the end of the lease that they currently then

         25  have. Right now, if landlords include special magic
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          2  words, they can deregulate the building immediately

          3  upon termination at the end of the benefits and

          4  evict that tenant right away rather than even

          5  waiting until the end of their tenancy. If landlords

          6  don't have those magic words, they have to respect

          7  that tenancy and let it play out before they can

          8  remove the units from the system. We should at least

          9  do that.

         10                 Second, J-51 benefits should not be

         11  available for owners who are converting rental units

         12  into market rate cooperatives and condominiums. Of

         13  course, if owners are doing that as part of an

         14  affordable housing program, converting Mitchell-

         15  Lama's to rentals into co- ops with substantial

         16  governmental assistance, they absolutely should get

         17  J-51 benefits. But from market rate conversions of

         18  rentals to co- ops and condos which are now eligible

         19  for J-51 benefits, there simply is no rationale no

         20  public good done. The tenants, whose buildings are

         21  being converted and who can't afford to live there

         22  don't benefit. The public doesn't benefit from the

         23  loss of the rental units. The City doesn't benefit

         24  from the loss of the tax collection. The only one

         25  who benefits is the person converting those units.
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          2  We should stop allowing that.

          3                 Finally, high value co- ops and

          4  condominiums shouldn't be eligible for benefits.

          5  There is currently a cut off in an assessed value

          6  for rental units, but not for co- ops and condos.

          7  This isn't so much an affordable housing issue. We

          8  are not harming low- income folks. We are just

          9  giving our tax dollars, the tax dollar of average

         10  New Yorkers, in multi- million dollar co- op and

         11  condos for renovating their building. There is

         12  really no reason I can imagine that New York would

         13  be happy to learn that they are paying a little more

         14  in taxes so folks whose condos and co- ops are worth

         15  than a million dollars in Manhattan and Brooklyn

         16  Heights and other high value neighborhoods can do

         17  tax free value adding to their units. These are, I

         18  think, relatively small problems, honestly.

         19  Although, we don't have all the data that would help

         20  us know the answers, but they also seem to me fairly

         21  simple and straight forward in concert with much of

         22  what the City Council agrees. I hope you will take

         23  steps to make those amendments.

         24                 Finally, this is a good moment to

         25  urge the City to work with DHCR on better
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          2  administrative coordination. I know New York City

          3  Comptroller raised some issues with HPD's

          4  administration of J-51 and HPD has said they don't

          5  have those administrative problems, but what we are

          6  all certain of and this was affirmed by the

          7  Mitchell- Lama report that the Inspector General put

          8  out last week is that DHCR administration, a major

          9  capital improvement and vacancy destabilization, is

         10  back in the stone ages.

         11                 This is a great moment for the City

         12  and the State to work together where an owner is

         13  applying both for J-51 and for a MCI or where an

         14  owner is exploring destabilization. Those are

         15  moments when DHCR and HPD systems have to connect

         16  better. I would hope that this would be an

         17  opportunity for those two administrative agencies to

         18  work together to improve coordination so that we can

         19  have more confidence in the system.

         20                 Again, thank you so much for the

         21  opportunity to testify.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you. I just

         23  have a few brief questions for you. I guess

         24  obviously you have experienced working with owners

         25  and maybe some units where apartments receive this
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          2  benefit?

          3                 MR. LANDER: Some, yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: In your

          5  experience, have you seen instances or could you

          6  just explain what happens in instances where these

          7  units can become deregulated during a tenancy?

          8                 MR. LANDER: Sure. Well, again, I

          9  think there is a few different questions on the

         10  table. I confess, I'm not a lawyer and someone who

         11  is needs to spend a lot more time parting these out.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Just rough.

         13                 MR. LANDER: First, what everyone

         14  agrees is that there is this issue that at the end

         15  of the benefits period, even a tenant- in- occupancy

         16  can be removed from stabilization and evicted if the

         17  landlord has put the right magic words in the lease.

         18  We've seen that happen in a number of places.

         19  Obviously, it is at Sty Town that has been sort of

         20  most in the news that that is happening. The law

         21  currently allows that. The City and the State both

         22  agree and that's what the law says.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: And by magic

         24  words, you mean they just use creative English to --

         25                 MR. LANDER: No, the magic words are
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          2  told to you. HPD's administrative guidelines say, if

          3  you put in your lease in 12 point type, this lease

          4  may be terminated and your rent regulation rights

          5  will disappear upon the expiration of benefits, then

          6  they have the right to do it. If they don't have

          7  those special words in 12 point type in a lease,

          8  then that tenant is allowed to finish out their

          9  tenancy before destabilization can occur.

         10                 Folks aren't cheating the system,

         11  they are doing exactly what the law and the rules

         12  currently tell them to do. So smart owners who are

         13  paying attention and read the rules, put those words

         14  in their lease, others don't. Tenants have

         15  protections if they are lucky if their landlords

         16  didn't put that in the lease. But if we think it is

         17  all right and legal to protect that tenant- in-

         18  occupancy at the end of the system, we should just

         19  do it and not provide it so that some folks with

         20  landlords who didn't read the rules as closely

         21  enough get to keep their tenancy and others don't

         22  That's the simplest of these problems.

         23                 It is clearly more complex what the

         24  rules about what the State can do here and what the

         25  City can do here are. The Pataki Administration in
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          2  its waning days sought to clarify that even though

          3  the City said the unit should stay in rent

          4  stabilization, they really didn't care one way or

          5  the other and they were going to allow

          6  destabilization of units even under J-51. And

          7  because the State administers the rent regulation

          8  system, there is some lack of clarity. It is clear

          9  that the current law is ambiguous and my sense is

         10  that with tightening up the language, the City could

         11  clarify. Again, it is an up front contracting what

         12  it wants to happen and get landlords to sign a

         13  commitment to maintain in that system and treat it

         14  like a contract.

         15                 I think this is going to take a

         16  little more look, but yes, again the article the

         17  folks have seen around Sty Town and I have talked to

         18  some friends at Legal Aid and Legal Services who

         19  have also seen tenants coming in whose buildings are

         20  being deregulated even though they are receiving

         21  J-51 and there becomes a dispute about how that is

         22  going to be handled. Do they have to go to court?

         23  Does folks even know what's taking place and then I

         24  think that requires both some tightening up of the

         25  language in the law and then the additional
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          2  administrative coordination between the agencies to

          3  work it out.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Okay. We've also

          5  been joined by Joel Rivera, Majority Leader from the

          6  Bronx and Council Member Robert Jackson from

          7  Manhattan. I just want to touch on the co- op/condo

          8  part of your testimony. I thought when HPD

          9  testified, I thought I heard them pretty clear, well

         10  go back and check it out again that the AV cap had a

         11  cliff.

         12                 MR. LANDER: It is my understanding

         13  that applies to rentals, but not to co- ops and

         14  condos.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: We will go back

         16  and double check that because I was under the

         17  impression that the cliff was --

         18                 MR. LANDER: Applying that cliff to

         19  co- ops and condos would solve my point three here.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: I was under the

         21  impression that the cliff was across the board. I

         22  probably should have been more specific with HPD.

         23  Council Member Mendez.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Good morning.

         25  On your point, point number three which is about the
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          2  high value cooperatives and condominiums, are you

          3  referring to assessed values or are you referring to

          4  resale values?

          5                 MR. LANDER: Well, I think there are

          6  several different ways you could decide what the

          7  high value cut off was. Probably the simplest is

          8  just to apply the same AV, not this 6,500 square

          9  feet. The simplest would be to just use the same

         10  exact assessed value which I think they said was

         11  $38,000 per unit. If you just use the same assessed

         12  value and I didn't include that in here, just using

         13  the same AV cliff for co- ops and condos that you

         14  did for rentals would solve this problem and it is

         15  probably the simplest. You could also do it through

         16  sales prices. Take a look at the last five years of

         17  sales prices and take an average sales price above

         18  which you didn't give a benefit or you could do it

         19  with an exclusion zone.

         20                 I think the first is simplest and

         21  again, if it is true, if my understanding is

         22  correct, that AV limit applies to rentals, but not

         23  to co- ops and condos, simply extending it is

         24  probably the simplest thing to do.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: I have many

                                                            39

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  HDFCs in my district because of the gentrification

          3  that they are assessed very high values. However,

          4  they have resale caps. They have income guidelines

          5  and now they are facing real hardships.

          6                 MR. LANDER: Absolutely. I tried to

          7  spell out in both; well I spelled it out

          8  specifically under number two and would clarify it

          9  again under number three. Any cooperative or

         10  condominium under a program of governmental

         11  regulations can be maintained as affordable housing,

         12  absolutely should be eligible to receive and

         13  continue to receive J-51 benefits. Absolutely.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Any other

         17  questions from my colleagues? If not, we would like

         18  to thank you, Mr. Lander.

         19                 MR. LANDER: Thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: If I understand

         21  correctly, there is no one else from the public that

         22  wishes to testify. As I said in the outset of this

         23  hearing, this is an initial hearing on these two

         24  items. Both items will be laid aside and will be

         25  considering them at a future date. That will again
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          2  conclude this hearing of the Housing and Buildings

          3  Committee. Again, all items on today's agenda are

          4  laid aside.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 11:00 a.m.)
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